SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF ST. JOHNS RIVER COMMUNITY COLLEGE,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC05-304 Lower Tribunal No.: 5D03-3902

DON R. MORGAN, Individually, and d/b/a MORGAN-STRESING ASSOCIATES,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, THE DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF ST. JOHNS RIVER COMMUNITY COLLEGE

Wendy Vomacka Florida Bar No. 0340162 David C. Willis Florida Bar No. 0477435 RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL A Professional Association Post Office Box 1873 Orlando, Florida 32802-1873 Telephone: 407-872-7300 Telecopier: 407-841-2133 Attorneys for Petitioner

DO NOT DELETE FOLLOWING SECTION BREAK OR PAGE NUMBERING WILL BE INCORRECT.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, The District Board of Trustees of St. Johns River Community College will be referred to as "The College" or as "The Board."

Respondent, Don R. Morgan, Individually and d/b/a Morgan-Stresing Associates will be referred to as "MSA."

The following abbreviations will be used:

[R]	Record on Appeal
[AR]	Appellate Record on Appeal
[Tr]	Trial Transcript
[App]	Appendix
[Pl's Ex]	Plaintiff's Exhibits Introduced at Trial
[Def's Ex]	Defendant's Exhibits Introduced at Trial
[Depo. at]	Deposition Transcript

Deposition transcript references are to original page numbers assigned by the Court Reporter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Don Morgan, an architect doing business as Morgan-Stresing Associates (MSA) put on the partnership cloak solely to get more business. The business entity known as MSA was never properly licensed in Florida. Unlicensed, MSA solicited business and entered into contracts in violation of Florida law. Don Morgan fraudulently induced the College to enter into a contract with MSA by holding MSA out as a partnership with architect Paul Stresing. The jury found MSA guilty of procuring the contract by fraud. Notwithstanding MSA's failure to be properly licensed and an unappealed jury finding that MSA induced the College to enter into a contract by fraud which caused damage to the College, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's entry of Final Judgment in favor of MSA. In its opinion, the Fifth District certified conflict with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in O'Kon and Co., Inc. v. Riedel, 588 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

MSA Was Never Properly Licensed Under Florida Law

After practicing architecture as a sole practitioner for many years as "Don R. Morgan, Architect," Morgan began practicing with architect Paul Stresing in 1995. [Tr. 207-208] In 1996, the firm name changed to Morgan-Stresing Associates (MSA). [Tr. 208] Don Morgan put on the false cloak of partnership solely to solicit and procure better contracts. [Tr. 209] MSA never applied for nor received the certificate of authorization required by Florida Statutes § 481.219 (1997) prior to nor during the time it solicited business from the public, including the College. [Tr. 510-519] [R. 58-65; 69-72] [PI's Ex. 35] [Def's Ex. 21]. Showing his distain and disregard for the law, Morgan referred to the licensing requirement as crap.¹ [Tr. 877-79]

Unlicensed MSA Procures a Contract With The College by Fraud

In 1998, the College solicited proposals from architects to design a theatre and business/tourism complex on its Orange Park campus² which became the Thrasher Horne Center³. [Def's Ex. 1] Due to the project's size, complexity and technical nature, the College mandated that the architect chosen for the project have specialized theatre experience. [Def's Ex. 1] [Tr. 684-85; 1190-91] MSA submitted a proposal expressly representing itself to be a partnership between Don Morgan and Paul Stresing. [Def's Ex. 2]

MSA survived the initial cut, making the short list based solely on Paul Stresing's theatre experience because Don Morgan lacked the experience required by the College. [Tr. 688-89; 703-04; 1196-98; 1379-82; 1668-69] Even after the oral presentations, the College had reservations about MSA's ability to properly

¹ Don Morgan used more colorful language, which Paul Stresing would not repeat at trial.

² Orange Park, near Jacksonville, Florida was one of three campuses of St. Johns River Community College.

³ MSA referred to it as VPAC (Visual and Performing Arts Center).

staff the project. [Def's Ex. 3] Given that Stresing's experience was critical to MSA's consideration, the committee wanted assurances of his participation. [Tr. 1673-75]

In response MSA stated in writing that, Stresing would be involved "at every level of the project's design and construction," thus "providing 100% principal participation." [Def's Ex. 2, 3] [PI's Ex. 7] Everyone knew that Paul Stresing's involvement in the entire project was a requirement. [Tr. 393, 398; 403-06; 1857] With this assurance, MSA was ultimately chosen as the architect. The College would not have awarded MSA the contract had it known that Paul Stresing was not a partner in MSA. [Tr. 688-92; 703-04; 1195-99; 1376-82; 1667-71]

MSA signed the contract with the College on April 20, 1999. [PI's Ex. 10] [Tr. 703] MSA did so without ever attempting to comply with Florida Statute § 481.219. [R. 58-65; 69-72] Immediately after signing the contract, Don Morgan began dismantling the trappings of partnership, yet continued to hold himself out as "Senior Partner" of Morgan-Stresing Associates. [Def's Ex. 15, 18-20] [Tr. 475-82] [PI's Ex. 13] The College was unaware of Don Morgan's deceit concerning the true nature of MSA and the fact that MSA was not licensed as required by Florida law.

January 12, 2000 – College Discovers MSA's Fraud

Soon after execution of the contract, College personnel observed that Paul Stresing was not participating as originally promised and required by MSA's contract. [Tr. 1871-72] College personnel wanted the situation rectified and were assured by Morgan that it would be. [Tr. 1871-75] [PI's Ex. 13] On January 12, 2000, however, Stresing advised College personnel that he had just been told by Morgan that he, Stresing, was not Morgan's partner, but only an employee of MSA. [Def's Ex. 23] Recognizing that the contract with the College was in serious jeopardy, MSA requested an opportunity to effectuate a cure. Unaware that MSA was not properly licensed, the College gave Morgan and Stresing an opportunity to continue if, within one week, they provided the College with a written plan to complete the project as the team required by the contract. [Def's Ex. 23] [PI's Ex. 15] The required plan was never provided.

Instead, on January 26, 2000, Don Morgan once again falsely assured the College that both architects would abide by the MSA contract and that both would be involved in every phase of the project through completion as was required under the contract. [PI's Ex. 44] In fact, Morgan and Stresing were not working together. Paul Stresing's participation in the project dwindled and ultimately ceased. [Def's Ex. 8] According to a letter from Morgan's attorney, Stresing ceased all work on April 29, 2000. *Id*.

June 2000 – College Learns MSA Is Not Licensed

On June 1, 2000 Paul Stresing advised college personnel that MSA did not have the certificate of authorization required by Florida Statute § 481.219 (1997). [Tr. 726-27; 878-80] [App. Q] Because MSA was not properly licensed, Stresing said he was prohibited from working on the project. *Id.* He did no further work on the project after that date.

On June 14, 2000, the college administration notified MSA in writing that MSA was in default because both architects were not working on the project. [PI's Ex. 24] [Tr. 727-28] [App. K] The College set a deadline of June 30, 2000 for MSA to cure the default. [PI's Ex. 24] [App. K] As part of the cure, the College demanded that MSA be in full compliance with Florida's licensing requirements. [Tr. 514-15; 728-29] [PI's Ex. 24] [App. K] It is undisputed that MSA failed to cure the default and failed to become properly licensed under Florida Statute § 481.219. [R. 58-65; 69-72] Morgan submitted an application for certification for MSA, which Stresing refused to sign because Morgan had made material misrepresentations. [Tr. 512-14; 885-89] [Def's Ex. 24] [App. N] The application was never approved. [R. 58-65; 69-72] [Tr. 512-13]

Board of Trustees Severs Its Relationship with MSA

The District Board of Trustees of St. Johns River Community College is the legal entity that contracted with MSA. [Tr. 1857-58] The Board of Trustees meet

monthly. The first scheduled meeting following Stresing's announcement that MSA was not properly licensed was on June 27, 2000. [Def's Ex. 32] [App. L] [Tr. 1808] At that time, Joe Miller, legal counsel for the Board, reported that Morgan and Stresing were not partners as had been represented, and that MSA was not in compliance with Florida architectural licensing law. [Def's Ex. 33] [Tr. 1810-14] [App. M, Q] Joe Miller advised, that as such, there was no contract for architectural services with the College. *Id.* [App. M] The Board then voted to suspend payments to MSA until the situation was rectified. [Def's Ex. 33] [App. M]

When MSA failed to meet the June 30, 2000 deadline to show compliance with Florida law and the other requirements set by the College, the Board began the process of terminating its relationship with MSA. In the interim, Don Morgan gratuitously delivered to the College on July 11, 2000 plans and specifications which he falsely represented were 100% construction documents. [Tr. 1882] After delivering the plans, Morgan left for vacation not returning until early August 2000. [Tr. 1885-86; 1816] As a result, the first Board meeting at which Morgan could be present was August 22, 2000. With Don Morgan and his attorney present at the August meeting, the Board voted to sever its relationship with Don Morgan, Paul Stresing and/or MSA. [Pl's Ex. 34] [App. O]

7

The College Seeks To Cover

To mitigate its damages, the College sought the most cost-effective means of completing its project having already paid MSA \$413,330. [Tr. 351; 2226-27] A threshold issue was whether the MSA plans could be used or should be scrapped with the successor architects beginning anew. If the MSA plans were unusable, the College would lose any benefit from its \$413,330. On top of that, it would have to pay the successor architect a fee similar to the contract fee with MSA, over \$1.1 million. [Tr. 2192; 2230] The College had the plans reviewed by another architectural firm. Having been advised that the plans were salvageable, the College sought bids from successor architects and awarded the contract to the lowest bidder, Reynolds, Smith and Hills (RS&H). [Tr. 1902]

Once retained, RS&H discovered that the MSA plans had significant and fundamental deficiencies that had not been initially apparent. [Tr. 911-13] For instance, the MSA plans were not code compliant, did not meet life safety requirements and were not coordinated between disciplines. [Tr. 912-13; 919-21; 960-66] MSA had also failed to pay its sub-consultants. [Tr. 2191; 2208-09] To complete the plans, the College paid MSA's sub-consultants relieving MSA of any obligation to do so. [Tr. 2191; 2208-09; 2226] Even with its efforts to mitigate damages, the College spent substantially more to correct the MSA plans than the

amounts it had withheld from MSA under the terminated agreement. [Ex. 2 to Lott deposition] [App. P]

The Suit and Trial

MSA filed a two-count complaint against the College. [R. 6-24] Count I, Breach of Contract, alleged that MSA was wrongfully terminated and that the College continued to use MSA's drawings without paying the outstanding balance. This was the only surviving issue at trial.⁴ [Tr. 1167] The College denied MSA's allegations filing affirmative defenses and a compulsory counterclaim. The College's counterclaim alleged fraud in the inducement, breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, and fraud. [R. 29-44]

Don Morgan admitted during discovery that he had been practicing under the fictitious name of Morgan-Stresing Associates, that Morgan-Stresing Associates was not properly registered as a fictitious name in the State of Florida as of April 20, 1999 and that Morgan-Stresing Associates had never had the certificate of authorization as required by Florida law. Morgan further admitted that he had solicited business from the College as MSA without having a certificate of authorization. [R. 58-65; 69-72]

⁴ MSA's *quantum meruit* claim was abandoned at trial.

College's Motion for Directed Verdict

At trial, the College timely moved for entry of directed verdict in its favor on three grounds: (1) MSA's admitted failure to have the certificate of authorization required by § 481.219 Florida Statutes rendered the contract void *ab initio*; (2) the contract was void and unenforceable by MSA because MSA had procured the contract by fraud; and (3) if the contract were valid and enforceable, MSA had committed the first material breach by failure of both architects to perform as required which occurred no later than June 1, 2000 when Paul Stresing ceased all work on the project.⁵ If the contract were deemed enforceable, this was more than a month before MSA's claimed breach of failure to pay could have accrued. [Tr. 1882] [R. 58-65; 69-72] [Tr. 1160-82; 2374-77] The motion for directed verdict was denied. [Tr. 2374-77]

Verdict Form

The College submitted a verdict form consistent with its position that MSA had procured the contract by fraud, and as a result, MSA could not, as the wrongdoer, sue to recover on the contract. It asserted the contract was void as to MSA. [R. 2721-22] [App. F] Over the College's objection, the trial court declined to use this proposed verdict form. [Tr. 2042]

⁵ Correspondence from Don Morgan's attorney stated that Stresing had not worked on the project since April 29, 2000. [Def's Ex. 8]

Jury Finds Fraudulent Inducement

The jury found that MSA had procured the contract by fraud and the College had suffered damages as a result thereof. The jury also found that the College had breached the contract and that MSA had suffered damages. [R. 2780-81] [App. G] The College filed a motion for entry of final judgment, or in the alternative, motion for judgment in accordance with motions for directed verdict and a motion for new trial, which were denied. [R. 2795-2980; 2798-2980] [App. H] Final judgment was entered in favor of MSA. [R. 2988-89] [App. I]

Appeal to the Fifth District Court Of Appeal

The College timely appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. [AR. 1-8] The Fifth District affirmed the Final Judgment for MSA. [AR. 9-18] [App. A] In its opinion, the Fifth District certified conflict with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in *O'Kon and Company, Inc. v. Riedel*, 588 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). On January 19, 2005, the Fifth District Court of Appeal denied the College's timely motions for rehearing and clarification. [AR. 46] On February 17, 2005, the College timely filed its Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court. [AR. 48-49]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Final Judgment entered in favor of MSA should be reversed and the Fifth District's opinion quashed because the contract between the College and MSA was void *ab initio* and not enforceable by MSA for two independent reasons. By statute, MSA was required to have a certificate of authorization before it could offer and/or provide architectural services in Florida. MSA never had the license required by Florida Statute § 481.219 (1997). Long-standing Florida Supreme Court precedent and Florida public policy hold that a contract that cannot be performed without violating a constitutional or statutory provision is illegal and void *ab initio*, and as such, cannot form the basis of any lawsuit.

The second independent ground for reversal of the Final Judgment is the unappealed jury determination that MSA procured the contract with the College by fraud. In Florida, one who procures a contract by fraud cannot sue to enforce the contract. As to the wrongdoer, the contract is void. Thus, MSA cannot sue to enforce a contract that it fraudulently procured.

Even if the Fifth District opinion is affirmed, the Final Judgment in favor of MSA should still be reversed for two reasons. The Fifth District found that failure to have the certificate of authorization rendered the contract voidable, and the College had failed to promptly void the contract. The lower court's conclusion is based on erroneous facts. Further, whether the College acted promptly is a fact issue that was never submitted to the jury. Based on the Fifth District's own opinion, the College is entitled to a new trial on the breach of contract.

The Final Judgment should further be reversed notwithstanding an affirmance of the Fifth District's opinion, because the trial court improperly adjusted the damages found by the jury when entering the Final Judgment. The trial court erroneously deducted the damages awarded to the College for fraud from the amount found due to MSA under the fraudulently induced contract. Because the College's damages are the <u>difference</u> between the contract balance and the amounts incurred in excess of the contract, the trial court compounded the harm suffered by the College rather than making the College whole.

JURISDICTION

The College has invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi). The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(4) of the Horida Constitution. The Fifth District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal in *O'Kon & Company, Inc. v. Reidel*, 588 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). [App. C] In *O'Kon*, the First District held that an architect's failure to have the certificate of authorization required by Florida Statute § 481.219 was a violation of Florida's licensing statute for architectural services rendering the architect's contract void *ab initio* and unenforceable. In direct conflict, the Fifth District held that section 418.219 was not a licensing statute and non-compliance did not void the architect's contract. The Fifth District's opinion also directly conflicts with the opinions of the Third District in *Rolls v. Bliss & Nyitray, Inc.*, 408 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) [App. D] and the Fourth District in *Alfred Karram, III, Inc. v. Cantor*, 634 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). [App. E]

This Court has also jurisdiction to consider all other issues which have been raised in the appellate process as though this case had originally come to this Court on appeal. *Savoie v. State*, 422 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982). *See also, Ocean Trail Unit Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Mead*, 650 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 1995) (having accepted jurisdiction, the Court may review the entire record for error).

ARGUMENT

I. <u>CONTRACTS ENTERED INTO IN VIOLATION OF STATE</u> <u>LICENSING LAWS ARE VOID AB INITIO</u>

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Judicial interpretation of Florida statutes is purely a legal matter and therefore, subject to *de novo* review." *Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.*, 721 So. 2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). *See Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, Inc.*, 626 So. 2d 664, 670 (Fla. 1993), *aff'd* in part, *rev'd* in part on other grounds, 512 U.S. 753, 114 S. Ct. 2516, 129 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1994).

B. <u>CONTRACTS THAT VIOLATE STATUTES ARE VOID</u>

Florida law has long held that an agreement or purported contract that cannot be performed without violating a constitutional or statutory provision is illegal and void, and as such, cannot form the basis of any lawsuit. *Local No. 234*

of United Ass'n of Journeymen and Apprentices of Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Industry of U.S. and Canada v. Henley & Beckwith, Inc., 66 So. 2d 818, 821 (Fla. 1953). In Local No. 234, this Court agreed with the union that the agreement resulted in a closed shop violative of public policy, thus rendering the agreement void. Justice Sebring stated:

[A]n agreement that is violative of a provision of a constitution or a valid statute, or an agreement which cannot be performed without violating such a constitutional or statutory provision, is illegal and void. And when a contract or agreement, express or implied, is tainted with the vice of such illegality, no alleged right founded upon the contract or agreement can be enforced in a court of justice. ... For courts have no right to ignore or set aside a public policy established by the legislature or the people. Indeed there rests upon the courts the affirmative duty of refusing to sustain that which by the valid statutes of the jurisdiction, or by the constitution has been declared repugnant to public policy. *Id*.

While applicable to all statutes, Florida courts have frequently applied this common law principal to licensing statutes holding "that where the law requires licenses to conduct business, the contracts by the unlicensed to perform licensed services are illegal and void." *Fabricant v. Sears Roebuck et al*, 202 F.R.D. 310, 320 (S.D. Fla. 2001). This rule has been applied to void contracts involving numerous occupations and professions that are regulated by statute. *See e.g., Wood v. Black,* 60 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1952) (contracts by unlicensed contractors are void *ab* initio); *Deep South Systems, Inc. v. Heath*, 843 So. 2d 378, 380 (Fla. 2d

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