SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF ST. JOHNS RIVER COMMUNITY COLLEGE,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No.SC05-304

DON R. MORGAN, Individually and d/b/a MORGAN-STRESING ASSOCIATES, L.T. CASE NO. 5D03-9302

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Peter A. Robertson Florida Bar No. 0876089 T.J. Frasier Florida Bar No. 0567681 Robertson Group, P.L. 5216 SW 91 Drive Gainesville, FL 32608 (352) 373-9031 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the judgment for MORGAN despite SJRCC's arguments to the contrary regarding the statutory effect of certification, or lack thereof, for architects, and the effect of fraud. Additionally, the District Court properly affirmed without opinion the trial court's entry of a net judgment in favor of MORGAN based on the jury's verdict. Based on the following argument and the record, MORGAN respectfully requests that the Court affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

JURISDICTION

This is a case of first impression. None of the decisions of the district courts have dealt with the specific fact pattern present here - rendering architectural services to Florida citizens by fully licensed architects as a business entity without a certificate of authority. In each of the decisions previously made, the architectural services were performed by unlicensed architects. For this reason, the Court may chose to exercise its discretion to decline review of the instant case.

Respondent respectfully submits its brief on the merits of the case below.

ARGUMENT

1. THE CONTRACT ENTERED INTO IS ENFORCEABLE UNDER FLORIDA LAW.

The most important fact to remember is that both DON R. MORGAN and PAUL STRESING, the architects who signed the contract with SJRCC to provide architectural services for the VPAC project, were at all times <u>fully licensed</u> architects in the State of Florida. This is absolutely uncontroverted. Furthermore, all architectural services were provided to SJRCC by MORGAN or STRESING. There is absolutely no argument that any <u>unlicensed architect</u> provided services under the contract.

Failure to obtain a certificate of authorization does not make a contract for architectural services unenforceable. Proper construction of '481.219 does not result in the contract being Anull and void.@

In construing statutes, courts must try to discern and give effect to the legislative will, in effect by determining their <u>intent</u>. <u>Great Outdoors Trading, Inc. v.</u> <u>City of High Springs</u>, 550 So. 2d 483, 485 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). The primary source for determining that intent is the language chosen by the legislature in the statute. <u>Donato v. AT&T Co.</u>, 767 So. 2d 1146, 1150 (Fla. 2000). In doing so, the words

used in the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning. <u>Hankey v. Yarian,</u> <u>M.D.</u>, 755 So. 2d 93, 96 (Fla. 2000); <u>Great Outdoors</u>, 550 So. 2d at 485. If helpful, statutes relating to the same subject matter should be construed together and compared with the questioned statute to aid in its interpretation. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also, Hankey</u>, 755 So. 2d at 96 (advocating examination of uses of same words in other statutes). However, courts must follow what the Legislature has written and neither add, subtract, nor distort the words written. <u>State v. Byars</u>, 804 So. 2d 336, 338 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

Furthermore, under the rule of construction, *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, the Legislature is presumed to have intended to omit certain provisions of a statute that it had included in others. <u>Sova Drugs, Inc. v. Barnes</u>, 661 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (court refused to apply a statutory defense to pharmacists because they were specifically omitted from statute that expressly listed other professionals).

Chapter 481, Part I, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, deals with the professional regulation of Architecture and Interior Design. Section 481.201 (1999) provides,

The Legislature finds that the practice of architecture is a learned profession. The primary legislative purpose for enacting this part is to ensure that every architect practicing in this state meets minimum requirements for safe practice. It is the legislative intent that architects who fall below minimum competency or who otherwise present a danger to the public shall be prohibited from practicing in this state. The Legislature further finds that it is in the interest of the public to limit the practice of interior design to interior designers or architects who have the design education and training required by this part or to persons who are exempted from the provisions of this part.

No violation of the purpose of the chapter occurred here because all architects providing architectural services were at all times fully licensed. Architect is defined as follows:

481.203 Definitions. B As used in this part:

(3) "Architect" or "registered architect" means a natural person who is **licensed**² under this part to engage in the practice of architecture.

(Emphasis added)(footnote added). A plain and fair reading of all of Chapter 481

indicates that the term license, as used there over 100 times, refers to the individual's

455.01 Definitions. **B** As used <u>in this chapter</u>, the term:

•••

(4) ALicense@means any permit, registration, certificate, <u>or license</u> issued by the department.

(Emphasis added). This definition was misquoted by Petitioner at page 29 of its Initial Brief by omitting the words Aor license@ and inserting Aand/or@ before Acertificate@.

² License is defined in Chapter 455, Business and Professional Regulation: General Provisions, as follows:

qualification or competency to practice architecture. The certificate of authorization relates to business entities and is defined as follows:

481.203 Definitions. B As used in this part:

(5) ACertificate of Authorization@ means a certificate issued by the department to a corporation or partnership to practice architecture or interior design.

Nowhere in Chapter 481 does the Legislature state that contracts entered into

by partnerships that fail to obtain a certificate of authority are unenforceable or void.

By comparison, Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, regulating the similar area of

construction contracting, reinforces MORGAN's interpretation of '481.219 that failure

to obtain a certificate of authority does not render the contract between MORGAN

and SJRCC unenforceable because nowhere in the statute does the Legislature make

such statement.³

³ Such a comparison is perfectly logical and helpful under the above-cited authority. In fact, the court in <u>Alfred Karram, III, Inc. v. Cantor</u>, 634 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), made a similar comparison when it interpreted an aspect of '481.219 by comparing it to a similar provision in Chapter 489. There, the <u>Alfred Karram</u> court refused to add a provision contained in Chapter 489 to '481.219, acknowledging that the Legislature **A**had the opportunity to [include the same provision contained in Chapter 489 in Chapter 481], and did not do so.@ Id. at 212.

Under Chapter 489,⁴ the legislature has stated a substantially similar purpose to Chapter 481⁵ -- namely to protect the public health and safety from the dangers of incompetent professionals (i.e. contractors). Yet unlike Chapter 481, the Legislature expressly and specifically <u>included</u> a section in Chapter 489, namely 489.128,⁶ that renders any contract entered into by an unlicensed <u>contractor</u> unenforceable in law or in equity. This provision voiding the contract was expressly excluded from the

⁵ See supra, pg.11.

⁶ Section 489.128 (1999) is titled **A**Contracts performed by unlicensed contractors unenforceable, and provides, **A**As a matter of public policy, contracts entered into on or after October 1, 1990, and performed in full or in part by any contractor who fails to obtain or maintain a license in accordance with this part shall be unenforceable in law or in equity. However, in the event the contractor obtains or

⁴ Section 489.101 (1999) provides, **A**The Legislature recognizes that the construction and home improvement industries may pose a danger of significant harm to the public when incompetent or dishonest contractors provide unsafe, unstable or short-lived products or services. Therefore, it is necessary in the interest of public health, safety, and welfare to regulate the construction industry.@

architect's statute; thus the Legislature did not intend that unlicensed architect's contracts for services should be voided for failure to obtain licensing.

Furthermore, Chapter 489 was amended in 2003 to make it clear that there is no unenforceability penalty for lack of certification for the business organization. Section 489.128(1)(a) provides: "As a matter of public policy, contracts entered into on or after October 1, 1990, by an unlicensed contractor shall be unenforceable in law or in equity by the unlicensed contractor." However, Section 489.128(1)(b) provides:

reinstates his or her license, the provisions of this section shall no longer apply.@

For purposes of this section, an individual or business organization shall not be considered unlicensed for failing to have an occupational license certificate issued under the authority of chapter 205. A business organization shall not be considered unlicensed for failing to have a <u>certificate of authority</u>⁷ as required by " 489.119 and 489.127.

(Emphasis added)(footnote added). Consequently, even if a contractor's business lacks a certificate of authority, the contracts are enforceable. By analogy, this latest statement of legislative intent shows that, in the case of architects, the Legislature has never and does not now intend for architectural contracts to be unenforceable for lack of a certificate of authority. Because all of the architectural services to be provided were performed by fully licensed architects, there is no argument that the contract is unenforceable.

Nor can SJRCC argue that it has the right to enforce Chapter 481. Chapter 481, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1999), does not establish a private cause of action <u>or defense</u> which SJRCC can assert against MORGAN to avoid the contract or otherwise render it unenforceable. Section 481.219(2) - the statute upon which SJRCC relies - merely provides, in relevant part, that "a certificate of authorization shall be required for a corporation, partnership, or person practicing under a fictitious name, offering

⁷ This certificate of authority is commonly referred to as a AQB license[@]</sup>.

architectural services to the public jointly or separately." Nothing in that section, or in Chapter 481 generally, expressly establishes a civil remedy which shields SJRCC against enforcement of the contract or otherwise invalidates contracts with uncertified architectural firms.

SJRCC simply does not have the authority to impose a sanction against MORGAN for not obtaining a certificate. Section 481.225⁸ specifically provides for the consequences that will face an architect who fails to obtain the certificate. That section authorizes the Board of Architecture and Interior Design to carry out any disciplinary proceedings and to levy any penalties to be imposed. Individuals or entities contracting with architects subject to discipline are not authorized to take any action against such architect, and are certainly not authorized to avoid otherwise valid contracts.

Although SJRCC listed as a witness a representative of the Department of Business and Professional Regulation, no one testified. Ms. Miller testified that Asomeone@notified the state attorney and DBPR regarding MORGAN and

⁸ Section 481.225 (1999) is titled **A**Disciplinary proceedings against registered architects.[@] The section describes the various offenses in subsection (1) and the penalties available under subsection (3). The penalties include revocation or suspension of licensure, fines, reprimands, probation, and restriction in scope of practice.

STRESING's alleged violation of the statute. However, prior to trial, DBPR <u>never</u> engaged in any investigation or disciplinary proceedings. Despite being informed of the situation, these facts did not rise to the level of concern necessary for action on behalf of DBPR.

Additionally, a civil remedy cannot be judicially implied unless the Legislature clearly intended that such a remedy exist. <u>See Murthy v. N. Sinha Corp.</u>, 644 So. 2d 983, 985 (Fla. 1994), <u>and Greene v. Well Care HMO, Inc.</u>, 778 So. 2d 1037, 1039-40 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). In <u>Greene</u>, the court stated that Adegislative intent, rather than the duty to benefit a class of individuals, should be the primary factor considered by a court in determining whether a cause of action exists when a statute does not expressly provide for one.' <u>Id</u>. at 1039 (quoting <u>Murthy</u>, 644 So. 2d at 985). A[I]n general, a statute that does not purport to establish civil liability, but merely makes provision to secure the safety or welfare of the public as an entity, will not be construed as establishing a civil liability.<u>Id</u>. at 1040 (quoting <u>Murthy</u>, 644 So. 2d at 986). There is no clear expression from the Legislature providing for a private cause of action.

Turning to the Florida precedent, three Florida cases, <u>Rolls v. Bliss & Nyitray</u>, 408 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), <u>Alfred Karram, III, Inc. v. Cantor</u>, 634 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), and <u>O' Kon and Company, Inc. v. Riedel</u>, 588 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) have touched on the issues presented to this Court, however none are directly on point. Each of these cases is factually distinguishable from the instant case. None of the cases involve architectural services rendered to Florida citizens by Florida licensed architects as a business entity that did not have a certificate of authorization. In <u>Rolls</u>, the court allowed an architect to recover on his contract even though he had not complied with the then existing statutory licensing requirements. 408 So. 2d at 235. However, although the contract was executed in Florida, the project was located in another country; and as such, the court determined that it could not apply Florida's statutes **A**extraterritorially.[@] <u>Id</u>. In both <u>Alfred Karram</u> and <u>O' Kon II</u>, although neither architectural firm had obtained the certificate of authority, **the cases turned on the fact that the architects performing the work were not licensed in the State of Florida**.

Here, it is undisputed that both signatories to the contract, MORGAN and STRESING, were fully licensed architects in the State of Florida. It is this key fact which makes all of the difference. None of the authorities cited by SJRCC deal with the facts of this case on point - where the work is actually performed by fully licensed architects.

Other courts have examined the enforceability of a contract in violation of the law. In John E. Rosasco Creameries, Inc. v. Cohen, 11 N.E.2d 908, 909 (N.Y. 1937), the Court of Appeals of New York discussed the enforceability of "illegal" contracts:

Illegal contracts are generally unenforceable. Where contracts which violate

statutory provisions are merely *malum prohibitum*, the general rule does not always apply. If the statute does not provide expressly that its violation will deprive the parties of their right to sue on the contract, and the denial of relief is wholly out of proportion to the requirements of public policy or appropriate individual punishment, the right to recover will not be denied. See Williston on Contracts, vol.3, '1789; vol.5 (2d Ed.) '1630 Cf. American Law Institute, Restatement of the Law of Contracts, "548, 600.

<u>Id.</u> at 909. There, a milk dealer sought to enforce a contract for milk sold and delivered to the defendants, who were also milk dealers. <u>Id.</u> at 908. There was no dispute that the milk dealer had not delivered good milk; rather the buyers saw a way to avoid paying for what they had already received. The court concluded that the contract was enforceable despite the fact that the plaintiff did not have a milk dealers license serving

license, saying

The statute involved does not expressly provide that contracts made by unlicensed milk dealers shall be unenforceable, although it does make a violation of the so-called milk control law a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not less than \$25 nor more than \$200 or by imprisonment for not less than one month nor more than six months, or both. In the case at bar, if the contract is declared unenforceable, the effect will be to punish the plaintiff to the extent of a loss of approximately \$11,000 and permit the defendants to evade the payment of a legitimate debt.

<u>Id</u>. at 910.

In <u>Wilson v. Kealakekua Ranch, Ltd.</u>, 551 P.2d 525 (Haw. 1976), the Supreme Court of Hawaii reversed and remanded the case to the trial court after it had dismissed the suit after trial on grounds that the architect's license had lapsed and was not renewed at the time architectural services were provided. It concluded that the architect's failure to pay the \$15 renewal fee did not render the contract

unenforceable. Id. at 530. The court cited Corbin on Contracts:

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